Licensing Committee

Friday, 4th March, 2016 2.15 - 4.35 pm

Attendees	
Councillors:	Roger Whyborn (Chair), Diggory Seacome (Vice-Chair), Andrew Chard, Wendy Flynn, Anne Regan, Rob Reid, Pat Thornton, Jon Walklett, Helena McCloskey and John Payne (Reserve)
Also in attendance:	Vikki Fennell and Louis Krog

Minutes

1. APOLOGIES

Apologies were received from Councillor Lillywhite and Councillor Payne attended as substitute.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None

3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS

None

4. MINUTES OF LAST MEETING

The minutes of the last meeting held on 5 February 2016 were approved and signed as a true record.

5. APPLICATION FOR PERMISSION TO PLACE AN OBJECT ON THE HIGHWAY - A BOARD

The Licensing Team Leader, Louis Krog, introduced the report regarding an application from Mr Roman Wroath of Ella and Fleur Hot Yoga, to place an advertising board outside 23A Pittville Street, Cheltenham. The proposed advertising board measured 110cm x 60cm and complied with the sizes recommended in the council's policy. A picture of the proposed structure was attached at Appendix A. The Officer outlined the proposed times that the A board would be displayed and advised that the width of the pavement available was 4.2m. The proposed location of the A board was attached at Appendix B.

The Officer drew members' attention to terms of the policy as mentioned in 3.3 and 3.4 of the report and advised that one objection had been received from the Highways Enforcement Officers on the grounds of A boards being a nuisance to pedestrians and disabled people using the footway. The Officer pointed out that although the business operated from the first floor, the premises also benefitted from a shop front at street level and referred to the photograph at Appendix C. He advised that members should determine whether the location of the business on the first floor disadvantaged them and necessitated the need for additional advertising, or whether the presence of a street level shop frontage,

small though it was, was sufficient advertising to negate the need for an A board. He asked members to be mindful of promoting the council's policy and advised that the Officer recommendation was to refuse the application on the grounds that the business had a presence at ground level.

Before moving on to questions to the Officer, Councillor Chard declared a personal interest, in that he knew the applicant having lived next door to him.

In reply to members' questions, the Officer advised that all new applications came before the committee and in addition there was an objection to this application. He also confirmed that the business was entirely on the first floor with a staircase leading from the shop front. Members expressed concern over the flow of pedestrian access around the A board in view of the number of bus stops in that area that were very popular, with queues forming past the bus shelters resulting in restricted access for wheelchair users and buggies. One member pointed out the inaccuracies in the scale of the submitted location plan.

The Chair invited Mr Wroath to address the committee in support of his application. Mr Wroath acknowledged members' concern about the bus stops and stated that he would offset the A board in relation to the last bus stop near his premises to create a larger space for people to move round. He felt that the other bus stops further down the street did not cause a problem. He told members that he felt their shop frontage was overwhelmed and lost, being situated between larger shops on either side. An A board would pinpoint where his business was and he informed members that he also wanted to advertise to people waiting for buses that his business had a juice and coffee bar upstairs.

In response to a question from a member about his business, Mr Wroath explained that primarily he ran hot yoga classes (45 minute yoga classes in a room heated to 40 degrees) with 4-5 classes a day. He wanted to expand his business into the next door property on the first floor with a treatment room and a café selling juices and healthy food. He continued that he didn't have any footfall from outsiders as yet into the café and so wanted to promote it.

One member suggested enlarging the advertising on the A board and putting it in the shop front or considering an overhead sign. The applicant pointed out that only people directly opposite would see any advertising in the shop frontage and not people further along the street. With regard to an overhead sign, the applicant felt this would be very expensive compared to an A board, with planning permission, design costs, installation etc, and told members that he wanted to be in central Cheltenham and not on an industrial park and that he wanted the business to look good, but that he was just starting out and couldn't afford good signage at this time.

In support of the application, some members agreed that people didn't always look up to see overhead signage and felt that the pavement was wide enough to be able to accommodate an A board. A member pointed out that other businesses with a larger frontage had been allowed an A board, so questioned how this could be refused and also felt that small businesses should be supported and encouraged.

There being no further questions and with the applicant not wishing to add anything else, the Chair advised the committee that he felt they could deviate

from the policy as the business was upstairs and the frontage was very narrow and he wanted to encourage businesses generally. He advised that if granted, the licence for the A board would be for 12 months from the date of this meeting.

Upon a vote, it was 5 for, 2 against and 2 abstentions.

RESOLVED THAT, Mr Roman Wroath's application to place an A board on the highway at 23A Pittville Street be granted for 12 months, as members were satisfied that the location was suitable.

TRANSFER AND RENEWAL OF SEX ESTABLISHMENT VENUE LICENCE
The Licensing Team Leader, Louis Krog, introduced the report regarding an application for the transfer and renewal of a sex establishment venue licence received on 11 January 2016 from Mr Massimo Salatino in respect of the premises located at 12-14 Bath Road, Cheltenham. The SEV licence was formerly held by Bath Road Property Limited and that company was dissolved on 1 December 2015. The Officer advised that the applicant had not applied to change any of the terms or hours of the existing licence.

A copy of the application form was attached at Appendix A, with a copy of the premises layout at Appendix B, a location map at Appendix C and a copy of the current licence at Appendix D.

The Officer informed members that no objections had been received from the Police, but 5 representations had been received from local residents and ward councillors, as well as comments from the Environmental Health Department and Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service and details of all of these were set out in the background papers. Members were reminded that objections on moral grounds were not relevant to either the mandatory or discretionary grounds for refusal.

Members were further advised to consider that the Licensing Department had been informed that on condition the SEV licence be granted, that the venue would trade under the name of Eroticats for March 2016, after which it would close for a total refit. Members were also reminded that the premises was situated in the relevant locality deemed to be inappropriate for the licensing of a SEV. Members were advised to consider granting the application as applied for, granting it subject to any additional terms, conditions or restrictions, or refusing the application.

Members expressed concerns regarding the comments from the Environmental Health Officer (EHO) and the Fire Service about the state of the premises and, following a site visit, still had serious concerns about it being fit for purpose. Members questioned the Officer about the provision of any documents to say the premises was compliant and asked for reassurance that a proper inspection would take place before the premises opened. The Officer informed members that another inspection by competent officers would take place before race week and advised them that whether they granted the licence or not, the EHO and Fire Officer had their own powers to close down or not allow the premises to open. He continued that he did not have papers from the EHO confirming that the work had been done, but that the applicant had such evidence with him, although he had not seen it. One member commented that if as stated in 7.6 of

the report the premises would be shut after race week for a total refit, that any work done now would be superficial. Another member commented on the bad state of the exterior of the premises and the outside advertising and asked the Officer if there was a proposal to address this. The Officer stated there was no application to change this and the report looked at the condition of the premises as a whole.

Members questioned that as stated in 4.6 of the report that one ground for refusal was the condition of the premises, how could the committee grant a licence not knowing if the work had been suitably carried out. The chair felt this put members in a difficult position. A member asked if a condition could be put on the granting of the licence subject to the satisfactory inspection of the EHO.

The Legal Officer, Vikki Fennell, advised that the committee needed to make a decision to grant the licence or not, as this was not an Officer decision and reiterated that there were other powers that could close the premises down. On the suggestion of an adjournment of the meeting due to insufficient information from the EHO as to the safety of the premises, the Legal Officer advised the committee to listen to the views of the applicant, or refuse the licence.

The Chair invited Mr Brian O'Connell, Solicitor for the applicant, to address the committee in support of the application. The Solicitor commenced by saying that his applicant, Mr Massimo Salatino, was a man of good character who ran a number of clubs and had a full alcohol licence and a SIA licence. He confirmed that Eroticats had approached the club, but that no agreement had been made with them and informed members that it would be solely Mr Salatino running the club. The Solicitor confirmed that he had papers with him showing that various work had been carried out and that there was no asbestos. He continued that he could understand the committee's concern of adding conditions regarding the approval of the EHO and Fire Officer and suggested that he would be happy to accept a condition that the licence not be granted until such time as the premises was confirmed satisfactory to the Environmental Health and Fire Officers.

At this point the Chair asked to adjourn the meeting to discuss this matter with the Legal Officer.

Meeting was adjourned at 14.44 and reconvened at 14.51.

The Chair informed the applicant that the committee was happy to continue with the application and took on board the suggestion of the Solicitor of granting the licence subject to the approval of the EHO and Fire Officer.

The Solicitor recommenced his address. He stated that a licence had been granted in 2014 and renewed in 2015 and was run at that time by different people. The business closed due to a fall out between the ladies running the club and other members of the company. The Solicitor continued that when his client returned to the premises it was in a bad state of repair with much damage. However he pointed out that up until its closure there had been no objections, even from the Police and the club had been run properly. He acknowledged that the premises was in the area of zero SEVs, and commented that last time the committee were persuaded to use their discretion and although he knew some members were against this application, if it were

refused on the grounds of 4.6 c and d in the report, there was no right of appeal. He asked members to fetter their discretion and to consider granting the licence, on the basis that there was no major change to the application since last year, that the club up to closure had not caused any problems and that it had been run properly.

In response to a question from a member about relocating the premises out of the zero SEVs area, the Solicitor replied that finding suitable premises was very difficult and that the club had been previously run in this location. It was also pointed out that this matter had been discussed at length last time it came to committee. Some members further expressed their concern about the state of the premises, the furnishings, the safety aspect and the cleanliness of the interior. The Solicitor told members that it was in his client's best interest to make it look good, attractive and safe for his customers and that before opening items would be replaced and it would be thoroughly cleaned to a high level of hygiene. He further reminded members that if the work was not completed satisfactorily and if the EHO was still not happy then it would not be signed off and would not open. The Solicitor was questioned about the connection with Eroticats and the closure after race week for a total refit. He said that Eroticats was nothing to do with them and that his client won't deal with them and that if they were suggesting any arrangements with them then an agreement would be needed.

The Chair invited Councillor Klara Sudbury, councillor for College ward, to speak on behalf of the objectors. Councillor Sudbury thanked the committee for allowing her to speak and for the opportunity to revisit this application again and hoped the committee would see enough grounds for refusal. Cllr Sudbury's main concerns and reasons for refusal were:-

- The premises fell in the area of zero SEVs, as set out in the Council's own policy which had been the subject of a lengthy debate at council.
- The character of the surrounding area was not suitable for a SEV.
- The area needed to be upgraded and the recent opening of a wine bar in the vicinity was more akin to what was needed, but being close to a SEV was not ideal.
- Major concerns about the state of the premises and if the building would be left in a state of disrepair if there were disagreement within the company.
- Concern about public safety and the completion of works in time for opening and also the involvement of Eroticats, although Cllr Sudbury acknowledged that the Solicitor had addressed this latter point.
- Although no Police objections had been received, Cllr Sudbury was aware of the door staff trying to entice men into the venue leaving their female partners outside.

The Chair drew members' attention to 4.11 of the report concerning properties with sensitive uses or in sensitive locations and asked them to bear this in mind in their questioning.

In reply to a question to Cllr Sudbury about whether any of the complaints had been logged with the Police, Cllr Sudbury stated that these complaints were not of a criminal nature, but an enforcement issue and so had spoken with the Licensing Team who had in turn asked the manager to speak to the door staff.

In response to a question from a member, the Solicitor confirmed that the venue would trade under the name of Fantasy Champagne Bar and that there was no plan to change the name.

As there were no further questions, the Chair asked the applicant if he wished to add any further comments. In summing up the Solicitor reminded members of 6.3 of the report about decisions being made impartially, in good faith and on consideration of relevant matters. He pointed out that the venue was only on the other side of the road to an area where it could be allowed, and reminded members of the discrepancies there had been in previous Council minutes about the name of the area being considered and its boundaries. He suggested that had his client known about any complaints then these could have been addressed and that arguments about the venue ruining the area were unfounded. He reiterated that the venue had closed in June due to an internal argument and that up until that point it had been properly run. He confirmed that the works to the club advised by the Environmental Health and Fire Officers were being done and that if the work was satisfactorily completed then the licence should be granted.

Members adjourned at 15.29 and returned at 16.06.

Upon a vote for the transfer of the licence, it was 9 for, 1 abstention.

Upon a vote for the renewal of the licence, it was 5 for, 4 against, 1 abstention.

RESOLVED THAT, the transfer and renewal of the sex establishment venue licence to Mr Massimo Salatino in respect of Fantasy Champagne Bar, 12-14 Bath Road, Cheltenham be granted, subject to the following conditions and rationale:

- 1. The licence is granted subject to the completion of all of the works required by the Senior Environmental Health Officer and Fire Safety Officer and that the completed works be approved and signed off by the Environmental Health Officer and Fire Safety Officer.
- 2. There is to be no promotional literature handed out in Cheltenham at all.
- 3. Any name change must be referred back to the Licensing Committee.
- 4. All previous license conditions continue.

The committee is allowed to deviate from policy on the basis that the premises has operated satisfactorily before the policy was in force and since the policy has been made. It is merely the other side of the road and it is irrational not to renew on that basis.

Furthermore, the premises is open from 10:00pm to 4:00am which has very little or no impact on other businesses and operations in the area. The committee's rationale in deviating from policy on the proximity of parks, shops, churches etc, was that the premises would not be open at the same time as these other activities, i.e. before 22:00.

7. ANY OTHER ITEMS THE CHAIRMAN DETERMINES TO BE URGENT AND WHICH REQUIRES A DECISION
None

8. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 1 April 2016.

Roger Whyborn Chairman

